FILED 07-06-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN IN THE SUPREME COURT

Case No: 2022AP382-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

CONRAD M. MADER,

Defendant-Appellant.

PETITION FOR REVIEW AND APPENDIX

Respectfully Submitted,

BUTING, WILLIAMS & STILLING, S.C. Jerome F. Buting, SB #1002856 Kathleen B. Stilling, SB #1002998 Attorneys for Defendant-Appellant

Address:

400 N. Executive Dr., Ste 205 Brookfield, WI 53005 (262) 821-0999 (262) 821-5599 (FAX)

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. Was it ineffective assistance for defense counsel to have failed to object to evidence that the defendant allegedly had a diminished sexual interest in his wife during the time he is alleged to have been sexually assaulting his stepdaughter?

Answer by Circuit Court: No. Answer by Court of Appeals: No.

Both courts ruled the evidence was relevant and not unfairly prejudicial and thus failure to object was not deficient performance.

II. Did defense counsel provide ineffective assistance by failing to object to inadmissible rape shield testimony that the complainant lost her virginity to the defendant, that she was on birth control and that Mader's assaults impacted her ability to be sexually intimate with her boyfriend.

Answer by Circuit Court: No. Answer by Court of Appeals: No.

Both courts ruled the failure to object to the virginity evidence was deficient performance, but the birth control evidence was connected to the defendant's assaults and therefore not barred by the rape shield statute. The court of appeals did not decide whether the evidence of her sexual intimacy problems with her boyfriend was admissible.

III. Did defense counsel provide ineffective assistance by failing to adequately investigate social media posts by the complainant about her employment hosting parties at which she sold sexual aids and received rave reviews about the fun and enjoyable way she discussed sex, to counter inadmissible evidence the State presented about her loss of virginity and sexual intimacy problems and the State's inaccurate portrayal of Case 2022AP000382 Petition for Review Filed 07-06-2023 Page 5 of 34

her as sexually inhibited and fearful as a result of the defendant's alleged assaults?

Answer by Circuit Court: No. Answer by Court of Appeals: No.

IV. Did defense counsel provide ineffective assistance by failing to object to the prosecutor's closing argument which referenced as evidence they should consider certain disclosures made at voir dire by prospective jurors who were not selected to serve?

Answer by Circuit Court: No. Answer by the Court of Appeals: No.

V. Did defense counsel provide ineffective assistance by failing to ensure that the deliberating jurors' request to review testimony concerning the defendant's denials of guilt during a police interrogation was honored by the court and instead allowing the complainant's handwritten statement which contained inadmissible rape shield evidence to be sent to the jury room?

Answer by Circuit Court: No. Answer by Court of Appeals: No.

VI. Did the cumulative effect of defense counsel's errors prejudice the defendant?

Answer by Circuit Court: No. Answer by Court of Appeals: No.

Case 2022AP000382 Petition for Review Filed 07-06-2023 Page 6 of 34

REASONS FOR GRANTING REVIEW

1. The case presents real and significant questions of state and federal constitutional law, Wis. Stat. (Rule) §809.62(1r)(a).

This case involves real and significant questions of state and federal constitutional law, including the petitioner's right to the effective assistance to counsel. Defense counsel failed to object to inadmissible evidence of the complainant's loss of virginity, use of birth control and supposed sexual inhibition caused by the petitioner's alleged assaults. Defense counsel also failed his duty to investigate which would have uncovered evidence to rebut the State's claim that the complainant was a reserved, sexually inhibited young woman traumatized by years of sexual abuse from the defendant, as portrayed in her direct testimony. Defense counsel also failed to object to improper evidence that the defendant supposedly displayed a decreased sexual interest in his wife during the period of the alleged assaults, while failing to show his wife gave birth to their second child literally nine months after she claimed the defendant was refusing sexual relations with her. Defense counsel also failed to object to improper closing argument and allowed inadmissible rape shield evidence to go to the deliberating jury in an inadequately redacted handwritten statement of the accuser, while also failing to ensure that the jury's request was honored to rehear the defendant's police interview which contained his denials.

The court of appeals agreed some of counsel's performance was deficient and some evidence allowed was inadmissible, but ultimately ruled none of it constituted ineffective assistance.

Case 2022AP000382 Petition for Review Filed 07-06-2023 Page 7 of 34

2. Review is also appropriate to clarify a question of law likely to recur unless resolved by this Court. Wis. Stat. (Rule) § 809.62(1r)(c)(3).

This case involves a recurring question of counsel's reference in closing argument to matters outside the evidence, in this case the comments during voir dire about the experiences of prospective jurors who were not selected for the jury.

The court of appeals ruled such statements were permissible because jurors are permitted to bring their experiences in life to their deliberations. But, as evidence for why the complainant should be believed, the prosecutor improperly argued the experiences of *nonjurors* discussed at voir dire, not the life experiences of the seated jurors.

In addition, this case involves a recurring question of how to respond to a deliberating jury's request for evidence to go to the jury room. The jury asked for the complainant's handwritten statement as well as the audio recording or transcript of the defendant's police interview, which included his denials. The court sent a redacted copy of the complainant's statement but sent the jury a note that no transcript of the defendant's audio recording existed and the recording could only be replayed in the courtroom. Neither the court nor defense counsel asked if the jury still wanted to have the recording replayed in court, and the jury rendered a verdict without hearing it. The court appeals ruling effectively places an improper burden on a deliberating jury to repeat its requests, rather than on the court and counsel to ensure the jury's requests are honored.

Despite admonishments from this Court in *State v. Anderson*, 2006 WI 71, 291 Wis. 2d 673,717 N.W.2d 74, that a trial court must not frustrate and effectively deny a jury's

Case 2022AP000382 Petition for Review Filed 07-06-2023 Page 8 of 34

request to have testimony reread unless the jury "affirmatively abandons" its request, trial courts continue to improperly do so. This is likely to recur in other cases unless this Court clarifies and strongly condemns the practice.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Pretrial

On February 2, 2018, Mader was charged with a single count of repeated acts of sexual assault of a child, contrary to §948.025(1)(e), Wis. Stats. (R. 1). The complaint alleged that Mader sexually assaulted Beverly, who was a 21 year old adult stepchild when she made the accusation. She claimed Mader repeatedly sexually assaulted her for years beginning when she was 12 or 13 and continuing until she was age 17 and had moved out of the house. (R.1: 3). She claimed Mader gave her massages, then progressed to "fingering her" and then penis to vagina and anus intercourse. (R. 1: 2-3). She also claimed he used a dildo on her. (R.1: 3). The defendant gave a statement to the police and denied the accusation, saying "I never did anything inappropriate, ever." (R.1: 2).

Before trial, the State filed an expert witness summary for Susan Lockwood, a social worker and therapist. (R. 30). Defense counsel did not ask for a *Daubert* hearing to challenge or limit Lockwood's proposed testimony.

The State also filed a motion in limine asking to exclude any reference to Beverly's employment "associated with romance parties" on relevance and §904.03 grounds. (R. 37). Defense counsel argued orally that she sold sex toys at parties and that her knowledge of the dildo she claimed Mader used when she was a child, and which she vividly described, resulted from her employment, not through childhood abuse.

Case 2022AP000382 Petition for Review Filed 07-06-2023 Page 9 of 34

Nonetheless, the court excluded the evidence. (R. 118: 4-5, 9-10, 11).

The Trial¹

During its opening statement at the trial the State said that the complainant had "lost her virginity" to Mader. (R. 116: 7). The State also told the jury that Beverly's mother would testify about "red flags" and explain some of the "warning signs that she saw," looking back years after the fact. (R. 116: 13). The defense did not object or ask for motion *in limine* to exclude evidence of virginity under Rape Shield or to determine the nature of Beverly's mother's "red flags" and whether this evidence was relevant.

The State's expert, social worker Susan Lockwood, testified without objection that of her approximately five hundred clients, in her opinion, only four had provided a false report of sexual assault (i.e., only 0.8%). (R. 116: 25). She determined that these were false reports based on her own intuition. (R. 116: 25, 45-46). She provided no other methodology for how she concluded those four patients falsely reported and the others were truthful. Lockwood also testified that some undisclosed literature suggests that between 3-8% of complainants falsely report sexual assaults. (R. 116: 26-27). She did not explain why her own subjective experience was so at odds with the published research. She also asserted, without objection, that teens don't lie about sexual assault and she discussed the impact of childhood sexual assaults on sexual intimacy in adulthood, neither of which topics were disclosed in

¹The trial transcript pages do not match the e-filed document page numbers. For consistency, references are to the Document pages, not the court reporter's page number.

Case 2022AP000382 Petition for Review Filed 07-06-2023 Page 10 of 34

the State's § 971.23(1)(e) notice of expert. (R. 116: 33, 41-42).

Two of the complainant's friends from middle school, Lea Reinholtz and Karah Saunders testified that they never witnessed any inappropriate contact between Mader and the complainant but that Beverly "bragged" about giving "road head" (oral sex in a car) to Mader. (R. 116: 58, 62). Lea told her mother about Beverly's claims and her mother asked Beverly directly whether the statement about sex with Mader was true. (R. 116: 66-67). Beverly told Lea's mother that it was all a lie she made up. (R. 116: 66-67). Lea ended the friendship after hearing Beverly admit she had lied. (R. 116: 61-62).

Beverly's mother, Mader's ex-wife, testified that she had not witnessed any of the alleged assaults, never saw Mader give Beverly a massage, and never noticed anything that at the time gave her concern about Mader and Beverly (R. 116: 173-176). In hindsight, there were a few incidents that she felt were suspicious after hearing her daughter's allegation. Beverly's mother described an incident in high school where she found a dildo under her daughter's mattress. (R. 116: 132). When confronted with the discovery, Beverly gave her mother and Mader the same explanation – that the dildo came from a neighbor girl's house where they found it in her mother's drawers. (R. 116: 137).

Beverly's mother also testified about a decrease of marital intimacy with Mader in the latter years of their marriage, which only aroused her suspicions after hearing about Beverly's claims of abuse. (R. 116: 140-141). She described a romantic weekend where her husband allegedly showed no sexual interest

²But at trial Beverly denied giving Mader oral sex at any time. (R. 119: 118).

Case 2022AP000382 Petition for Review Filed 07-06-2023 Page 11 of 34

in her.³ She also testified, without objection, to a hearsay statement that her son, Scott, supposedly heard sounds like monkeys in the morning, which Beverly's mother now inferred were sexual noises from Mader's assaults of her daughter. (R. 116: 142). But when Scott later testified he said nothing about hearing unusual noises. Instead, he said he did not note anything special about the relationship between Mader and Beverly and never saw any signs of an inappropriate relationship over the eight years they lived together. (R. 119: 19, 22).

When Beverly testified she said that Mader assaulted her using his finger, penis, and a large dildo, at all hours of the day and night, during multiple days of the week, sometimes twice in a day, and in many different places in the home. (R. 119: 43-46). She even claimed he performed nude massages on her in her brother's room while her brother was home. (R. 119: 102). However, neither her brother nor her mother recalled any massages in his room or anywhere. Beverly testified that several times she bled because of the rough, quick vaginal and anal intercourse and the use of the dildo. (R. 119: 63, 65, 116; R. 72: Ex#14, p. 8-9, 13). There was no medical corroboration of injuries and no one testified that Beverly had ever complained of medical problems consistent with these claims.

Beverly testified that when she was in high school she began to fight back, lock her door, kick and fight, yell loudly and make a scene when Mader tried to get access to her. (R. 119: 70-71). However, while her mother, brothers and younger sisters were present in the home during these years, no one

³However, the couple's second child was born 9 months after that supposed period of no sexual relations, a fact trial counsel failed to present at trial, which he admitted at the *Machner* hearing was an oversight. (R. 156: 42-43).

Case 2022AP000382 Petition for Review Filed 07-06-2023 Page 12 of 34

testified that they noticed Beverly make any attempts to avoid or fight with Mader.

The prosecutor asked Beverly about losing her virginity to Mader, her use of birth control and her sexual intimacy problems with her current boyfriend, which she attributed to her prior abuse. (R. 119: 78-79; 85-86). Without objection, she testified about how she was uncomfortable with any touch she regarded as sexual. (R. 119: 130-31). Beverly's boyfriend at the time of the trial also testified that Beverly didn't like to be kissed or touched in a sexual way. (R. 119: 32).

While the State was allowed to introduce evidence about Beverly's sexual inhibitions, the defense was precluded from challenging this testimony by asking Beverly about her decision to market and sell sexual aids, such as dildos, to women in private parties as a self-styled "women's health educator." Defense counsel renewed his pretrial motion to admit evidence of her activities when Beverly opened the door in her testimony that Mader's assaults had caused the intimacy problems with her boyfriend. (R. 119: 88-89) (R. 72: Trial Exhibit 14 at 1). But the court again precluded the evidence. (R. 119: 92-93).

Det. Steier testified for the State, without objection, that of the one hundred and fifty sexual assault cases he had investigated, only one had involved a false report. (R. 119: 162-63). He provided no basis for this claim and did not identify Beverly as the single false reporter, thereby indirectly vouching for her credibility.

Steier testified that during Mader's interrogation at the station Mader repeatedly denied ever assaulting Beverly and he answered all questions, provided some motives for a fabricated allegation and pointed the detective to witnesses to support his innocence. (R. 119: 143, 147, 150-51. But the jury did not see

Case 2022AP000382 Petition for Review Filed 07-06-2023 Page 13 of 34

the video recording. Instead, the State offered, without objection, a heavily redacted audio-only recording of Mader's police interrogation.(R. 119: 147).

The defense presented a number of witnesses who challenged the credibility of both Beverly and her mother. (R. 120: 10-11, 30). Several of Beverly's claims about specific incidents, such as frequent intercourse in the morning and that assaults occurred on Christmas Day, were rebutted because Mader was at work at 6:00 a.m. during the times she claimed he was home and both Beverly and her brother always spent Christmas morning and day with their father, so Mader had no access to her on that day. (R. 120: 24, 39, 42-43, 47, 55-56, 61-62). An incident where Beverly claimed Mader removed the bathroom door handle to get to her when she fled from him and locked herself in the bathroom was rebutted by a witness. Beverly claimed he gained entry by taking the door handle screws out. (R. 119: 11-12). However, the carpenter witness noted that door handle screws were on the inside of the door, making removal of the handle impossible from the outside. (R. 120: 16).

Mader himself testified and denied any inappropriate conduct with his step-daughter. (R. 120: 74-75). He described some motives Beverly and her mother had to fabricate, which he had provided to police, some of which the jury did not hear on the audio recording. Mader testified that he thought that Beverly's mother "put (Beverly) up to this" to help her get more money or full custody of the younger girls. He also testified that Beverly may have made the accusation to please her mother, to save her younger sisters from possible abuse after her mother's

Case 2022AP000382 Petition for Review Filed 07-06-2023 Page 14 of 34

suggestive comments to her and to gain her mother's love. (R. 120: 79-81).⁴

In closing arguments, both sides agreed that the key issue was credibility. Without objection, the prosecutor used comments made by prospective jurors during voir dire about sexual assault experiences to arouse their emotions about the frequency of sexual assaults and support the idea that victims routinely fail to report assaults to the police: "Remember jury selection process? Remember how many people put their hands up? Holy cow. It's a lot more popular than we would like to know. It's a lot more prevalent." (R. 120: 116-17).

The prosecutor also highlighted the testimony of Lockwood and Steier about the rarity of false claims in their experience and that teenagers don't lie about sexual assaults, and he claimed that Beverly's purported intimacy problems with her boyfriend proved that she was an abuse victim because Lockwood claimed that sexual abuse "absolutely will have an impact on future sexual relationships." (R. 120: 117-20, 135-36). In his rebuttal closing, the prosecutor reemphasized all the dubious testimony about false reports and Rape Shield testimony about intimacy, and he argued:

And at the end of the day, when you listen to Susan Lockwood's testimony and you take all these observations of characteristics of victims of sexual assault, when you consider the numbers that fall into false reporting and the research, not just Susan's numbers or Investigator Steier's numbers, you really have to ask yourself how often is this going on in our community?

And then you look at all the characteristics and you apply those to [Beverly] and you say, just as I promised you in

⁴Both younger girls were forensically interviewed and reported no abuse. (R. 119: 165).

Case 2022AP000382 Petition for Review Filed 07-06-2023 Page 15 of 34

my opening statement, that everything Susan would say about what to expect was classic with [Beverly].

(R. 120:174-75).

About three hours into deliberations, the jury asked for a copy of Beverly's handwritten statement and Mader's recorded statement or a transcript of it. (R. 120: 180). The court instructed the jury that there was no transcript of Mader's interview. ⁵ The court's answer implied that their request to hear the recording would be granted, stating "the 55 minute recording or portions of the recording may be played again in open court. The recording may not go to the jury room." (Doc. 82; R. 120: 180). However, the jury was not told they had to again request the recording be played before the court would do so. The interview was never replayed. Defense counsel agreed to send Beverly's fifteen page statement to the jury room after redacting approximately 2.5 pages. The statement included material not testified to at trial. (R. 132: Ex. 14R) (R. 120: 187-88). The jury returned a guilty verdict after about six hours of deliberations. (Doc. 56).

The defendant was given a 20 year bifurcated prison sentence with the first 10 years of initial confinement. (R. 103).

Post-conviction proceedings

The defendant filed a motion for post-conviction relief and a *Machner* hearing was held with testimony from the defendant's trial counsel The defense attorney testified he knew that he had to object to evidence at trial to preserve the issue for

⁵The transcript of the police recording that is in the appellate record at R. 132: Exhibit 15 was only prepared after trial, for the post-conviction motion.

15

Case 2022AP000382 Petition for Review Filed 07-06-2023 Page 16 of 34

appeal and attributed his failures to oversight, rather than trial strategy. R. 156: 18, 27, 30-31, 41, 90. He admitted that testimony about a complainant's virginity was improper and did not know why he failed to object in this case. (*Id.* at 46-47).

The circuit court denied the post-conviction motion in a written decision. R. 188; APP 144-158. The court concluded that most of defense counsel's alleged errors were not deficient performance, except the failure to object to the testimony about virginity and speculative hearsay about "monkey" noises. (*Id.* at 8-9). Nevertheless, the court found no prejudice. (*Id.* at 14-15).

Court of Appeals

The court of appeals accepted the State's concession that defense counsel's performance was deficient by failing to object to evidence of Beverly's virginity and the hearsay testimony about monkey noises inferred to be sounds of sex between the defendant and the complainant. APP. 114, ¶ 31.

The court of appeals also concluded that it was deficient performance for defense counsel not to object to Lockwood and Steier's testimony about the truthfulness of accusers and the statistical evidence of the rarity of false accusations of sexual assault. APP 118-19, 138; ¶¶40, 79. The court ruled such testimony violated the prohibition on vouching discussed in *State v. Haseltine.* ¶ 39, APP 118.

However, the court of appeals ruled Mader was not prejudiced by his counsel's deficient performance because "Beverly's detailed account of years of sexual abuse, along with the contemporaneous and after-the-fact corroboration discussed above was inherently credible." ¶ 86; APP 141. The court believed this "was not a case in which the evidence for and against guilt was nearly in equipoise." *Id.* In part, the court

Case 2022AP000382 Petition for Review Filed 07-06-2023 Page 17 of 34

reached its conclusion by believing "the evidence presented by Mader, was by comparison, meager." ¶ 84. As argued below, the court of appeals failed to consider that evidence elicited on cross-examination by the defense was as much evidence as that later presented in the defense case.

This petition follows.

ARGUMENT

- I. Defense Counsel Performed Deficiently in the Investigation, Preparation, and Trial of this Case, Which Caused Prejudice to the Defendant.
 - A. Defense counsel did not object to the defendant's ex-wife's irrelevant and unfairly prejudicial testimony that the defendant had lost interest sexually in her during the marriage and about hearsay statements suggesting that her son heard sounds suspicious of sex between Mader and Beverly

1. Diminished sex life.

Beverly's mother's testimony that her sexual relationship with Mader went into a decline after she had a miscarriage and that they failed to have sexual intercourse on a romantic getaway in 2011, was irrelevant and unfairly prejudicial. (R. 116: 139-41). That sexual relations between this working couple raising two adolescents and a toddler diminished shortly after a miscarriage was neither surprising nor relevant. The inference the State wanted the jury to make was that their sexual life deteriorated because Mader was engaged in almost daily sexual behavior with Beverly, leaving little interest or energy for his wife. This inference was not factual, logical or rational. Beverly

Case 2022AP000382 Petition for Review Filed 07-06-2023 Page 18 of 34

claimed she had been having sex with Mader for several years before the miscarriage and yet Beverly's mother reported no change in the couple's sexual relations until after the miscarriage.

At the *Machner* hearing, trial counsel said he had "no reason" why he did not object to this testimony, and that it was an oversight on his part. (R. 156: 41). He agreed that Beverly's mother's testimony on this issue was prejudicial and damaging to the defense. (R. 156: 42)

The court of appeals found the evidence was relevant and admissible such that the failure to object was not deficient performance. The court concluded that a reasonable explanation for Mader's lack of interest in sexual relations with his wife was that "he was obtaining gratification elsewhere." ¶48; APP 123.

However, the court ignored Mader's argument that his counsel failed to present to the jury the fact that couple's second child was born 9 months after the Door County weekend, to contradict Beverly's mother's claim that Mader refused sexual relations because he lost sexual interest in her at that point. (R. 156:42). The court of appeals also ignored Mader's argument that trial counsel knew Mader told the police that the real reason the marriage declined was because of Beverly's mother's affair with a coworker, but he failed to present that evidence to the jury and it was redacted from the version of his police interview the jury heard. (R. 156: 42-43; R.142: Exhibit A, p. 30).

Given such countervailing evidence, the relevance of Beverly's mother's claimed lack of sexual interest on a single "romantic" weekend had minimal probative value. This increased the likelihood that if counsel had presented Mader's explanation for the real reason for declining sexual relations the

Case 2022AP000382 Petition for Review Filed 07-06-2023 Page 19 of 34

court would have excluded her diminished sexual interest testimony under §904.03 because its minimal probative value was outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Beverly's mother's extramarital affair would have been fair game to rebut her testimony, but the court may have excluded all testimony about the supposed lack of sexual interest to avoid distracting the jury with testimony about Beverly's mother's marital infidelity.

2. Speculative hearsay statements about suspicious noises.

Immediately after the irrelevant testimony about the marital sex life, Beverly's mother was prompted by the prosecutor to discuss another incident "that stood out to you now looking back." (R. 116: 141). She then testified, without objection, to hearsay statements made by her son and her father-in-law that now made her suspicious. Beverly's mother testified that around Easter in 2011, her son said ."..well, I'd be able to sleep, but it sounds like monkeys in the morning. I'm always dreaming about hearing monkeys." (R. 116: 142). She testified that Mader's father, who did not testify, then said something to the effect that "someone may have been having sex." (R. 116: 142). Beverly's mother testified that at that time she "didn't necessarily connect dots." (R. 116: 142). The inference the State wanted the jury to draw from this hearsay testimony was that the noises her son allegedly said he heard were made by Mader and Beverly during the sexual behavior.

The court of appeals accepted the State's concession on appeal that defense counsel's failure to object to this hearsay and irrelevant testimony was deficient performance.

Case 2022AP000382 Petition for Review Filed 07-06-2023 Page 20 of 34

B. Defense counsel failed to object to the State's presentation of testimony about birth control, virginity and the impact of the alleged sexual assaults on the complainant's sexual intimacy with her current boyfriend, all of which was irrelevant and inadmissible under §972.11 (Rape Shield).

1. Beverly's virginity testimony.

Mader's counsel failed to object when the State discussed during opening statement and presented evidence from several witnesses about Beverly's sexual conduct, including her lack of sexual experience when the assaults began, use of birth control and unsatisfying sexually intimate experiences as an adult with her boyfriend. Beverly testified without objection that she suffered from an inability to have satisfying sexually intimate relations with her boyfriend because of the alleged assaults. ("I can't have a real relationship," R. 119: 86). She also testified about her use of birth control as a teen, that she was a virgin before the assaults, that she learned everything about sex from Mader and other irrelevant, prejudicial evidence that violated the Rape Shield statute. (R. 119: 79-80, 85).

On appeal, the State conceded that evidence and references to Beverly's virginity was inadmissible and counsel was deficient for failing to object. The court of appeals agreed.

But, the court of appeals did not believe counsel was deficient for failing to object to the remainder of the evidence about Beverly's sexual conduct.

Case 2022AP000382 Petition for Review Filed 07-06-2023 Page 21 of 34

2. Birth control.

The court of appeals ruled that Beverly's testimony that Mader asked her if she received her birth control shot transformed the evidence into conduct that was part of the sexual assault, and thus not excluded under § 972.11.¶ 53; APP 125-26. The court concluded his "apparent preoccupation" with Beverly's birth control connected her use of birth control to the "course of assaultive conduct." *Id.*

This is factually incorrect. Beverly's mother testified that her daughter came to her, complained of heavy periods, and asked for birth control. Beverly's mother noticed her daughter's "frequent" use of menstrual care products and discussed the potential use of birth control to ameliorate her symptoms. R. 116 at 237. Beverly's mother testified that *she* put Beverly on birth control. R. 116 at 144-45. Mader had nothing to do with the decision between the mother and daughter. The use of birth control was a medical decision unrelated to the alleged sexual assault, and thus inadmissible under § 972.11. Defense counsel should have objected to any such testimony.

3. Defense counsel was deficient by failing to adequately investigate evidence of Beverly's employment with Pure Romance and her customer's reviews that Beverly hosted fun and informative sexual aids parties, to rebut the State's inaccurate portrayal of Beverly as a sexually inhibited woman traumatized by years of abuse by Mader.

The introduction of the inadmissible Rape Shield evidence in Mader's trial was aggravated by the manner in which it misleadingly portrayed his accuser as sexually inhibited

Case 2022AP000382 Petition for Review Filed 07-06-2023 Page 22 of 34

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