Filed 07-19-2023

FILED 07-19-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

No. 2022AP382-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

CONRAD M. MADER,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

SARAH L. BURGUNDY Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1071646

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

ARGUMENT

I. None of the issues that Mader raises warrants this Court's review.

Mader asserts that because this case involves ineffective-assistance of counsel claims, it presents a "real and significant" constitutional question. (Pet. 6.) If simply presenting a claim of ineffective assistance satisfied the criterion in Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(a), this Court would be mired in such cases.

Mader also suggests that this case involves likely-torecur open questions regarding: (1) the prosecution's allegedly arguing "matters outside the evidence" in closing, and (2) the court's duty in responding to a jury request for audiovisual materials during deliberations. (Pet. 7.) But Mader's characterizations of these claims and the relevant facts are misleading. Here, the prosecutor did not reference facts or matters outside of evidence in closing, but rather the jurors'

 $^{^1}$ See Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(3)(e) (requiring respondent to identify any additional issues not included in the petition for review).

² See State v. Morales-Pedrosa, 2016 WI App 38, 369 Wis. 2d 75, 879 N.W.2d 772; State v. Haseltine, 120 Wis. 2d 92, 352 N.W.2d 673 (Ct. App. 1984).

collective observation and experience during voir dire. (Pet-App. 33–35.)³ Likewise, the court soundly and correctly informed the jury that it could not send audiovisual materials to the jury room, but that it could view them in open court if it wished. (Pet-App. 38–39.) That communication was consistent with the holding in *Anderson*.⁴ (Pet-App. 40–41.)

To be sure, *Strickland* cases can involve open-yet-likelyto-recur questions that require clarification or guidance from this Court. Or they may involve a misapplication of *Strickland* that will cause confusion for courts and parties in later decisions. But this is not one of those cases.

Moreover, at bottom, any errors in this case were demonstrably harmless. In other words, even if Mader can establish unreasonable errors by counsel beyond those identified by the lower courts, he cannot show that they were prejudicial.

As the trial court and the court of appeals observed, "the evidence presented at trial weighed significantly in the State's favor." (Pet-App. 42.) Indeed, the victim's accounts of Mader's many assaults of her were accompanied by credible details of not only dates and locations, but also sounds, words, emotions, and physical feelings from the assaults. (Pet-App. 42–43.) Notably, the victim was able to describe a distinctive birthmark on Mader's penis that was visible only when he was erect. (Pet-App 43.) Her testimony was also corroborated by testimony from former friends and her boyfriend that the victim had disclosed Mader's assaults to them when they were occurring, and by her mother, who recalled consistent circumstantial details. (Pet-App. 43.) In

³ For all citations to the Petitioner's Appendix, the State cites to the electronic page numbers.

⁴ State v. Anderson, 2006 WI 77, 291 Wis. 2d 673, 717 N.W.2d 74, overruled on other grounds by State v. Alexander, 2013 WI 70, 349 Wis. 2d 327, 833 N.W.2d 126.

comparison, Mader's defense, under the circumstances, was "meager." (Pet-App. 43–44.) Against the State's remarkably strong and compelling evidence, Mader cannot show more than the few insignificant errors by counsel that the court of appeals clarified and that the State largely conceded.

Mader's petition otherwise asks this Court to conclude that counsel made more errors than the court of appeals identified. (Pet. 7–8, 17–30.) This request, at bottom, is for fact-specific error correction, which this Court does not do. See State ex rel. Dep't of Nat. Res. v. Wis. Court of Appeals, Dist. IV, 2018 WI 25, ¶ 43, 380 Wis. 2d 354, 909 N.W.2d 114 (footnote omitted) ("We are not, primarily, an error-correcting tribunal, and we normally hear only those cases that present something more than just an error of law.").

Specifically, this Court need not explore whether counsel should have objected to evidence that the trial court, in its discretion, deemed admissible or to a permissible statement by the prosecutor in closing regarding the jurors' common experience during voir dire. It need not address whether counsel should have introduced evidence that the victim, as an adult, hosted sex toy parties, or whether counsel soundly agreed to the court's correct response to a jury request to view certain testimony. Rather, the circuit court and court of appeals identified the relevant law and facts and correctly concluded that counsel did not err in any of these respects. There is no new ground for this Court to clarify, nor is there any aspect of the court of appeals' decision adversely affecting Mader that should prompt this Court's review.

II. If this Court disagrees and grants Mader's petition, it should review one additional issue.

If this Court disagrees and believes that Mader has presented adequate issues warranting further consideration, this Court should decide the following additional issue: whether general statistics reflecting that single-digit percentages of allegations of sexual assault are false violate the rule against one witness vouching for another's truthfulness. The court of appeals held that they do; this Court should reverse.

Here, the prosecutor elicited testimony from an expert witness that one study determined that three to eight percent of sexual assault allegations are false. (Pet-App. 18.) The court of appeals concluded that because that testimony suggested that more than 90 percent of victims tell the truth about sexual assaults, it constituted improper vouching under *Haseltine* and *Morales-Pedrosa*: "Even the research cited by [the expert] indicating that only three to eight percent of assault reports turned out to be false fits within the range we described in *Morales-Pedrosa* as more clearly objectionable." (Pet-App. 21.)

That reasoning does not make sense. The statistics are the statistics, not a personal opinion that a witness is telling the truth. The fact that the statistics in question reflect only a single-digit probability that a victim in a sexual assault case is lying reflect a fact that the jury can weigh in its deliberations. It should not violate the principles under *Haseltine*. What's more, the court of appeals' reasoning here that statistics would not violate *Haseltine* if they reflected a ten percent or higher rate of false reporting, but single-digit percentages cut too close to impermissible vouching, (Pet-App. 21)—would have a prosecutor either misrepresent or not inform a jury of accepted statistics while allowing the defendant to suggest that lying or false claims are more prevalent than they actually are.

Accordingly, the State requests review of this issue if this Court is inclined to grant Mader's petition. That said, the issues raised by Mader do not warrant further consideration, and the State's interest in finality for the victim in this case outweighs its interest in this Court's addressing this additional issue. This Court should deny review.

CONCLUSION

This Court should deny the petition for review.